

The within host dynamics of Mycobacterium avium ssp. paratuberculosis infection in cattle: where time and place matter

Ad P Koets, Shigetoshi Eda, Srinand Sreevatsan

▶ To cite this version:

Ad P Koets, Shigetoshi Eda, Srinand Sreevatsan. The within host dynamics of Mycobacterium avium ssp. paratuberculosis infection in cattle: where time and place matter. Veterinary Research, 2015, 46 (1), pp.61. 10.1186/s13567-015-0185-0. hal-01333708

HAL Id: hal-01333708 https://hal.science/hal-01333708

Submitted on 18 Jun 2016

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

REVIEW



Open Access



The within host dynamics of *Mycobacterium avium* ssp. *paratuberculosis* infection in cattle: where time and place matter

Ad P Koets^{1,2*}, Shigetoshi Eda³ and Srinand Sreevatsan⁴

Abstract

Johne's disease or paratuberculosis, caused by *Mycobacterium avium* subsp. *paratuberculosis* (MAP), occurs in domestic and wild animals worldwide, causing a significant economic loss to livestock industries. After a prolonged incubation time, infected cattle shed MAP bacilli into feces and spread the disease to an uninfected animal population. It is largely unknown how (or whether) the interplay between the pathogen and the host immunity determines timing of shedding after the long incubation time. Such information would provide an understanding of pathogenesis in individual animals and the epidemiology of MAP infection in animal populations. In this review, we summarize current knowledge of bovine Johne's disease pathology, pathogenesis, immunology and genetics. We discuss knowledge gaps that direly need to be addressed to provide a science-based approach to diagnostics and (immuno)prophylaxis. These knowledge gaps are related to anatomical/clinical manifestation of MAP invasion, interaction of bacteria with phagocytes, granuloma formation, shedding, establishment and kinetics of adaptive immune responses in the pathogenesis of the disease. These topics are discussed at the molecular, cellular and tissue levels with special attention to the within host dynamics including the temporal and the spatial context relevant for the various host-pathogen interactions.

Table of contents

1. Introduction

- 2. Natural and experimental infection: anatomic manifestation of infection
- 2.1. Granuloma dynamics
- 2.2 Bacterial shedding
- 3. Mononuclear phagocyte MAP interactions
- 4. Adaptive immunity during paratuberculosis infection
- 4.1. Infected macrophage T cell interaction
- 4.2. The Th1 Th2 paradigm revisited
- 4.3. Immunity in the intestinal wall
- 5. Within host spatial aspects of MAP infections: targeting immunity to the lesion
- 5.1. Intestinal compartment
- 5.2. Mesenteric lymph nodes and blood
- 5.3. Towards a different dynamic within host model for MAP

Wageningen UR, Lelystad, The Netherlands



- 7. Abbreviations
- 8. Competing interests
- 9. Authors' contributions
- 10. Acknowledgements 11. References
- 11. References

1. Introduction

Paratuberculosis, caused by *Mycobacterium avium* ssp. *paratuberculosis* (MAP), is a chronic intestinal infection of ruminants. Although a small proportion of calves are able to clear the infection, the majority of exposed calves will become chronically infected for life. A fraction (10%) of chronically infected cattle will develop a fatal progressive form of the disease during its life-time. The progressive form of clinical paratuberculosis is characterized by chronic intractable diarrhea in cattle and weight loss, production losses and severe emaciation leading to death since no cure is available. Substantial economic losses to the dairy industry are a result of the infection [1].



© 2015 Koets et al. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly credited. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http:// creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

^{*} Correspondence: ad.koets@wur.nl

¹Department of Bacteriology and TSE, Central Veterinary Institute of

²Department of Farm Animal Health, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

MAP infection in dairy cattle occurs predominantly but not exclusively early in life when calves are most susceptible to infection [2]. This susceptibility is associated with the presence of a large number of transient ileal Peyers Patches (PP) in young ruminants providing a large number of M-cells as the major portal of entry in combination with a developing immune system. The presence of infection induced MAP antibodies may enhance the uptake of MAP. During the first year of life these ileal PP go into regression leaving the jejunal PP [3]. In addition to traversing M-cells, MAP is shown to bind and enter through enterocytes due to active MAP enterocyte interaction [4]. The extent of MAP uptake by M cells was found to be greater than that by enterocytes [5]. Using an in vitro co-culture system, Lamont et al. showed that recruitment of macrophages to the apical side of epithelial cells occurred within 10 min and was dependent on interleukin (IL) 1ß produced by the epithelial cells [6]. Following transcytosis MAP is taken up by resident macrophages [3] and dendritic cells (DC) present in the subepithelial lamina propria and remain locally at the site of infection without systemic dissemination [7]. As recently reviewed by Arsenault et al., inside the macrophages and DC, MAP survives and replicates while modulating the intracellular environment of the antigen presenting cell as well as cell surface expression of molecules and the release of cytokines to allow longterm intracellular presence [8].

Johne's disease is characterized by a long incubation period (1.5-2 years) before cows become fecal culture positive for MAP [9]. Immunodiagnostic tests based on serum antibody responses are generally delayed even more (up to 3 years post exposure) [9]. In experimental settings both antigen specific antibody and T cell responses can be detected within 3-6 months post infection [10]. In approximately 10% of infected cattle clinical signs such as decreased milk production, weight loss, and intermittent diarrhea are observed, typically between 4-6 years of age [11]. In some cattle with pre-clinical and advanced paratuberculosis infection antibody responses predominate and cell mediated responses wane to a point of MAP antigen specific T cell anergy [12]. Based on these patterns derived primarily from crosssectional studies of Johne's disease using PBMC and serum based diagnostic tests, it has been hypothesized that progression to clinical disease is a result of a shift from potentially protective cell mediated immune responses to a non-protective antibody response [13,14]. A role for IL-10 producing regulatory and or suppressive cells has been proposed in the pathogenesis of paratuberculosis. This is supported by experimental data in cows in the clinical stage of the disease indicating an increased expression of IL-10 and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β limiting expression of IFN- γ [15]. More recent data support the role of macrophage produced IL-10 in down regulation of Th1/IFN-y responses and disease progression in MAP infected cattle [16]. However Shu et al. showed a marked upregulation of both pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in PBMC and mesenteric lymph node (MLN) lymphocytes of clinical paratuberculosis cows where IL-10 was prominent following PBMC stimulation but IFN-y was prominent following mesenteric lymph node cell stimulation [17]. In addition, Subharat et al. [18] observed a negative association between IL-10 and disease severity at 15 months post experimental challenge indicating that the immunosuppressive properties of IL-10 may limit infection/inflammation driven tissue damage. A number of conceptual problems regarding our understanding of the pathophysiology of bovine paratuberculosis emerge from the current data. At the herd level it is evident that in herds where the infection is endemic, and highly susceptible neonates are born into an environment in which MAP is abundantly present, persistent infection does not occur in all cows. Although some calves may escape exposure and infection during the first few months of life it has also become apparent from experimental infections that some calves appear resistant to infection. This particular group of apparently resistant animals has not been studied extensively. The fact that most if not all the pathogenesis and immunological responses have been described using infected animals may therefore prevent us from learning about the natural protection against the disease. Furthermore, only a small proportion of all naturally and experimentally infected cattle develop a progressive infection leading to clinical paratuberculosis. In most chronically infected cows the pathogen persists in the presence of an antigen specific cell mediated immune response and specific antibodies. It is unclear why there is an apparent lack of effectiveness of this immune response to eliminate infection in most cows. This is further complicated by large variations in immunological responses between cows as well as within cows over time in both field cases and experimentally infected cattle [19]. Some of this variation can be explained by host genetic factors, MAP genetic factors and strain variation as well as environmental factors such as dose and age of exposure [2,20,21].

This review will focus on recent advances in our understanding of the within host dynamics of bovine paratuberculosis, and identify knowledge gaps, which need to be addressed to further our understanding of the pathogenesis of bovine paratuberculosis within and between cows.

2. Natural and experimental infection: anatomic manifestation of infection

Intestinal MAP infection leads to the formation of lesions predominantly in the lamina propria of the small intestine as well as in the draining lymph nodes. Macroscopic signs of infection include thickening of intestinal mucosa leading to a typical corrugated aspect, prominent subserosal lymphatics and enlarged mesenteric and ileocecal lymph nodes. These signs are found in advanced cases of (clinical) paratuberculosis often accompanied with muscle and body fat atrophy. In subclinical cases macroscopic signs are non-specific, subtle or absent [22].

In experimental infections with single (high) dose infections, histopathological examinations have also been performed. Sweeney et al. showed that in a short term experimental MAP infection model in which histopathology was performed on up to 39 tissues per calf 3 to 6 weeks after infection no histological evidence of infection could be found even in MAP culture positive small intestinal tissues [23]. This indicates a low number of MAP per cell and a lack of inflammatory response to the infection. Most data on granuloma formation is derived from adult cattle with established infection and it should be recognized that consequently a bias exists towards susceptible cattle as more resistant cattle and/or the more favorable outcomes of the host-MAP interactions are underrepresented. Early lesions, cellular and molecular responses in such resistant cattle may provide critical missing information on underlying mechanisms of MAP clearance. There is a dire need for such data to understand molecular pathogenesis of JD and implement science based mitigation strategies.

Histopathologically intestinal and lymph node changes are classified as granulomatous lesions.

It is recognized that histological changes vary widely, however, bovine paratuberculosis histopathology differs in at least two ways from bovine and human tuberculosis and human leprosy. First, classically organized Type I tuberculoid lesions present in leprosy and tuberculosis are not observed in bovine paratuberculosis. Second, there is the virtual absence of (polymorphonuclear) granulocytes in bovine paratuberculosis granulomas [24,25]. Thus, the histopathological lesions of bovine paratuberculosis resemble Type II lepromatous rather than Type I tuberculoid lesions as less organized lesions are far more frequently observed.

Two main types of paratuberculosis lesions have been described and classified. Lepromatous-like disease with numerous epithelioid cells containing large numbers of acid-fast organisms are present in the lamina propria and submucosa organized in clusters with no visible Langhans' giant cells and few lymphocytes. Tuberculoidlike disease with similar disease duration showing few acid-fast organisms with numerous Langhans'-type multinucleated giant cells and somewhat increased numbers of mucosal lymphocytes [22]. Notably clinical signs of disease cannot be uniquely associated with the lepromatous or the tuberculoid type of disease and in both presentations, high numbers of bacilli are shed in the feces [22].

A more detailed histopathologic description aimed at describing lesions in subclinical cases of paratuberculosis was proposed by González et al., where lesions were classified as focal, multifocal, and diffuse lesions [25]. Animals in these investigations originated from farms with endemic paratuberculosis. Animals were, however, not systematically tested for MAP infection prior to examination but only post-hoc based on histopathology. This may account for the relatively higher estimate of infection reported (almost 70% of cows) with overrepresentation of subclinical infection. Focal lesions characterized by the accumulation of 5-30 macrophages with abundant slightly foamy cytoplasm were most prevalent. These lesions were typically present in lymphoid tissue, mostly lymph nodes draining the small intestine but rare in the intestinal wall (<1%). Since these observations were not confirmed for pathogen specificity, the study is prone to misclassification since MAP was only detected by immunohistochemistry and/ or ZN staining in less than 9% of the cases with focal lesions. Multifocal lesions were manifested in both the lamina propria and the draining lymph nodes. These lesions tested culture positive for MAP in over 90% of the cases. The main difference between focal and multifocal lesion types observed by Gonzalez et al., was the presence of MAP in the multifocal type and a low burden of MAP in the focal lesion. The cows with diffuse lesions had severe granulomatous enteritis and tested MAP culture positive in 100% of the cases. Within the category of diffuse lesions a distinction was made between diffuse multibacillary (high intracellular burden of MAP in foamy macrophages), diffuse lymphocytic (a rare form (<10%) with few macrophages and predominantly lymphocytic infiltrate) and diffuse intermediate (low intracellular burden of MAP in giant cells and macrophages). The frequency of diffuse intermediate and diffuse multibacillary forms is comparable with 40-50% each in the more advanced cases of disease [26]. The most common forms in subclinical stages of paratuberculosis are the focal and multifocal lesions [25].

Relatively little data are available on the local presence and organization of cells from the innate and adaptive immune system using cell specific markers. In bovine paratuberculosis, pluribacillary lesions of the accumulated macrophages appear to be non-activated as judged by the fact that they lack iNOS expression. Nearby crypt regions showed expression of iNOS but this was unrelated to infection [27].

Koets et al. compared frequencies and absolute counts of lymphocytes present in the ileum, ileum draining lymph nodes and blood in subclinically MAP infected, clinically affected, MAP whole cell vaccinated (cows protected from developing clinical signs but not infection) and healthy controls. Cows with clinical signs of paratuberculosis and progressive multibacillary infection had significantly less CD4⁺ lamina propria lymphocytes, and significantly more $Tcr1^{\ast}N12^{\ast}$ $\gamma\delta\text{-}T$ cells in the lamina propria. The subclinically infected, MAP whole cell vaccinated and healthy controls had comparable numbers and frequencies of T cells. The observed disease associated differences were restricted to the lamina propria [12]. Weiss et al. compared the lymphocyte subset distribution in the ileum of healthy and subclinically MAP infected cattle. Ilea of MAP infected cattle contained a higher fraction of macrophages and a lower number of lymphocytes while the frequency of polymorphonuclear leukocyte (PMN) remained the same. Cell frequencies in the spleen were comparable between the 2 groups [28]. Lee et al. also showed an increase in macrophages in the ileum of MAP infected cattle and in addition a decrease in PMN compared to healthy cattle [29]. In infected ileum within the lymphocyte population, there was an increase in the frequency of memory CD4⁺ and CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells locally and a lower frequency of activated cells. [28] In this study the CD4⁺CD25⁺ subpopulation was regarded as the regulatory T cell population. In mice and humans only the CD4^{hi}CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ T cell subset shows natural suppression not the CD4⁺CD25⁺ subset. In cattle regulatory T cells that show functional suppression are a subset of γδ-T cells. Suppression or anergy were not observed when testing CD4⁺CD25⁺ and CD4^{hi}CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ T cell subsets [30]. Hence an increase in regulatory T cells may be present but they may be $\gamma \delta^+$ -rather than CD4⁺ T cells which also match observations of increased frequencies of $\gamma\delta$ -T cells in cows with clinical paratuberculosis [12].

2.1. Granuloma dynamics

A few studies have addressed the temporal granuloma dynamics in cattle during MAP infection. Most of the pathological changes in bovine paratuberculosis have been described as states or a fixed host response characteristic, rather than part of a continuous dynamic microbe-host interplay [27]. More recently, Kruger et al. studied progression of granuloma in a goat experimental infection model. No continuous progression of lesions (extent and severity) was observed and a high level of variation in types of lesions was observed especially at the end of the study (12 months post infection) [31]. Recent studies on the granuloma dynamics in M. tuberculosis infected primates provide compelling data that most lung lesions are probably founded by a single bacterium and reach similar maximum burdens. Despite this observation, the fate of individual lesions varies substantially within the same host as the host sterilizes some lesions even while others progress [32].

While this is a complex concept to evaluate in bovine paratuberculosis due to target tissue, time, host, pathogen and environmental factors, a basic model would be helpful for this knowledge gap. Gonzalez et al. discuss the observation that the focal changes have been observed in very early stages of infection as well as in adult cattle. Although they briefly consider that these may represent initial lesions they dismiss this option based on age-based resistance and favor the view that these focal lesions represent latent persistent infection [25]. This would however imply an extreme longevity of individual latently infected macrophages. Estimations of life-span/ turnover of macrophages indicate that in rodent macrophages in the liver, lungs and peritoneal cavity vary between 21 and 42 days in steady state conditions [33-35]. Estimates further vary depending on the site of infection and inflammatory state as it is clear that there is an abundant recruitment of monocytes during infection and inflammation [36]. It may therefore be that focal lesions represent new initial lesions and that the observed histology provides a snapshot of a dynamic situation with transitions between states occurring continuously and in a more or less temporally synchronized fashion. Thus it could be hypothesized that multibacillary can go to paucibacillary if insufficient monocytes can be attracted to the lesion to sustain bacterial replication and/or/as a result of an appropriate protective adaptive immune response. This would imply that multibacillary lesions can be sustained for prolonged periods of time only if sufficient immature macrophages can be attracted to the lesion. The observations of MAP positive debris in lacteal in histopathological studies may be relevant here, as infected macrophages do not have an indefinite lifespan. The release of chemokines and MAP components from dying macrophages may be sufficient inflammatory signals to attract new monocytes to the intestinal tissue. In the lesion, epithelioid cells and newly migrated macrophages can form multi nucleated giant cells (MNGC) [37]. Based on the lifespan estimates of monocytes and macrophages and bacterial replication time the duration of a cycle from focal infection to MNGC scar tissue can be estimated between 1-2 months. Alternatively or superimposed on this dynamic cycle multi- and paucibacillary lesions may represent strain differences between MAP which differ in pathogenicity, fitness or level of being adapted to the host environment since it has been shown that multiple MAP strains circulate in an endemic situation and that one cow can be infected by multiple strains [38]. The apparent states leading to histopathological classification of cows as multi- or paucibacillary responders may be the result of lesions developing with a bias towards either type by immune response driving infection independent factors such as gestation, parturition, negative energy balance or other cow level stressors [39] and host genetics [40].

In a proposed model for the dynamics of bovine paratuberculosis granulomas, focusing on the development of lesions following infection (Figure 1) supposes infectious sources to be extraneous (such as new infections) or intrinsic (such as bacteria released from dying macrophages in an existing infection). Resident macrophages will take up free bacteria rapidly. New infectious loci can subsequently develop into either multibacillary or paucibacillary lesions driven by the disease independent factors described above. Given the limited lifespan of macrophages, we hypothesize cells will die in approximately 4 to 6 weeks and release MAP into the local environment at which point bacteria enter the intestinal lumen and are shed in the feces or remain local and start a new cycle. The remains of the dying macrophages, apoptotic bodies and mycobacterial antigen will be cleared through efferocytosis (ingestion of MAP containing apoptotic bodies by surrounding macrophages) and formation of multinucleated giant cells containing very few if any MAP which will further regress and disappear over time [41].

The high number of focal lesions in the lymph node in early stages of infection may also represent this highly dynamic system of cellular migration [25]. As reviewed by Ehlers and Schaible in murine models of tuberculosis, it has been shown that (initial) granuloma formation progresses independently of the presence of an adaptive immune system [42]. Although care should be taken in translating data from murine models to cattle, a similar observation was made with MAP from bovine origin using severe combined immuno deficient (SCID) mice [43]. Current views on the dynamics of the granuloma are shifting from trying to encompass the heterogeneity of the lesions in a linear temporal setting to a more complex model. In this model Barry et al., discuss how the broad range of responses that occur following TB infection result in the formation of separate microenvironments which can suppress or support bacterial replication, which co-exist in one individual and independently evolve or regress and even disappear over time [44]. Recent experimental data that lesional heterogeneity in *M. tuberculosis* granulomas arises, in part,



through differential killing of bacteria after the onset of adaptive immunity. Thus, individual lesions follow diverse and overlapping trajectories, suggesting that critical responses occur at a lesional level to ultimately determine the clinical outcome of infection [32].

2.2. Bacterial shedding

Bacterial shedding is commonly used as a diagnostic parameter and a measure for disease activity. Little research has been done to try to elucidate the mechanisms which drive shedding of bacteria and its dynamics. It is important that this process be better understood since the shedding of MAP is a critical step with respect to environmental contamination and transmission of infection.

Despite the fact that diagnosis of infection by fecal culture or fecal PCR is usually performed in adult cattle it has become clear in recent years that MAP shedding does occur in younger animals under field conditions [45]. The frequency of initial shedding in calves younger than 2 years increases substantially with increasing herd prevalence [45]. A recent meta-analysis on the effect of dose and age at exposure also indicates that an early exposure with a high dose is the main driver for early shedding [2]. These data indicate that bacteria are shed in low numbers during early shedding as compared to later stages and likely reflect the progressively expanding granulomatous infection in the intestinal wall.

Several factors may influence the excretion of MAP towards the intestinal lumen. First is that the macrophage, the MAP host cell has a finite lifespan. MAP-infected macrophages may die through apoptosis or necrosis [46]. In apoptosis mediated cell death, plasma membrane integrity is preserved and bacteria are encapsulated in apoptotic bodies. Macrophage suicide through apoptosis enables control of bacterial replication and pathogenic mycobacteria try to prevent the induction of apoptosis in macrophages in which they reside [47]. In MAP infection, apoptosis of infected macrophages is suppressed [48], potentially avoiding clearance through efferocytosis. It is interesting to note that macrophages from Johne's disease resistant cows are prone to undergo apoptosis [49], suggesting a possibility that enhanced efferocytosis restricts MAP proliferation in animals. However, it has been shown that *Mycobacterium avium* complex (MAC) (strains 101 and 104) either manage to escape from apoptotic bodies to be released in intercellular fluid or survive in apoptotic bodies and upon autophagy of these apoptotic bodies infect other macrophages. The latter process is thought to be an efficient way for MAC to spread to new uninfected macrophages [50].

When prolonged survival occurs, MAP continues replication in the macrophage until the burst size of the macrophages is reached. This leads to macrophage lysis as MAP numbers exceed the macrophages physical limit to further sustain bacterial replication. The burst size for M. tuberculosis was estimated to be 20-40 cfu [51]. Based on the observed sizes of (MAP infected) macrophages and an estimated bacterial doubling time in macrophages of 2.8 days [52], burst capacity would be reached within a number of weeks depending on the initial dose. These cells will lyse and a large amount of bacteria and excreted bacterial antigens will be released instantaneously. These MAP will be free in intercellular fluid and can move in the flow of the interstitial fluid. In the fluid, specific antibodies can bind to MAP which may lead to activation of effector mechanisms such as complement [53]. The (opsonized) MAP can be washed out in the interstitial fluid to become lymph and migrate to the draining lymph node. Both ways can lead to dissemination of MAP to other intestinal locations, gut lumen or draining lymph nodes, depending on local biochemical signals [54].

Second, migrating young monocytes, macrophages or DC can phagocytose MAP. MAP is transported to the lumen when infected macrophages and/or DC migrate there. Recent data from studies with surgically isolated ileal segments in calves show that segments remain relatively stable for prolonged periods and significant changes in mucosal leukocyte populations (T cell, macrophage, DC and natural killer (NK) cell) are correlated with the presence or absence of culturable microflora [55]. The presence of intestinal flora is a major factor regarding the presence and migration of monocytes, macrophages and DC based on signals derived from the microflora and its interaction with enterocytes and intra epithelial lymphocytes (IEL) resulting in chemokine production attracting cells [55]. Short term studies with the surgical intestinal segment model indicate that the presence of MAP in the lumen specifically leads to the migration of lamina propria lymphocytes (LPL) and IEL macrophages (and likely DC) into the gut lumen thus proving a potential mechanism for MAP shedding [54]. In vitro macrophage migration studies with MAC-T bovine epithelial cells showed that MAP, through induction of IL1ß production and phagosomal acidification when invading the MAC-T epithelial cells, can induce IL1ß driven recruitment to and transepithelial migration of monocyte derived macrophages [6]. This mechanism may serve both the recruitment of monocytes to the intestinal epithelium which may take up MAP released from enterocytes but may also provide a model for infected macrophages to reach the intestinal lumen via transepithelial migration.

In the more advanced stages of disease, (partial) obstructions in intestinal lymphatics have been observed, causing enlarged afferent lymphatic vessels. This increases pressure in villus lacteal ducts, which are subsequently dilated and can lead to fistula formation from the lacteal duct to the intestinal lumen. Hence the occurrence of a fluid stream with cells (macrophage, iDC) and MAP is a potential passive mode of translocation of (free or cell associated) MAP to the intestinal lumen and a source of protein loss [22]. Also it has been observed that MAP containing macrophages are present among the glandular epithelial cells, protruding towards the lumen [25]. This migration to the intestinal lumen may also be a driver of shedding especially if the normal flow of lymph is disrupted. Likewise given a highly dynamic monocyte and macrophage migration dynamic in the intestinal wall a single infected cell can migrate to a different site in the lamina propria and start a new initial focal lesion. These mechanisms are captured in Figure 1.

3. Mononuclear phagocyte - MAP interactions

The mononuclear phagocytes (macrophages, DC) are the primary target cells for MAP in which it is able to persist and replicate. It has become clear that MAP has extensive abilities to subvert the host innate immune system as has recently been reviewed in detail by Arsenault et al. [8] The initial contact between MAP and the mononuclear phagocytes and the receptors used for uptake are important for the subsequent fate of both MAP and the host cell. Selective uptake via certain receptors such as the integrins, mannose receptor and CD14 influences the macrophage response and may lead to suppression of the oxidative burst, and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines [56]. Opsonization of MAP via FcR (specific antibodies) and CR3 (complement receptor 3, CD11b/CD18) can lead to the induction of oxidative burst, changes in intracellular trafficking and phago-lysosomal acidification leading to reduced survival of MAP. However these effects are critically dependent on prior activation of macrophages by IFN-y /lipopolysaccharide (LPS). In non-activated macrophages MAP survival and replication is not significantly reduced but rather enhanced [57]. Live MAP, in contrast to dead MAP, also inhibit the phagolysosome fusion by interfering with the endocytic pathway following phagocytosis enabling survival of MAP indicating active evasive mechanisms [58]. Both in macrophages as well as DC [59], infection with live MAP leads to an upregulation of the production of the suppressive cytokine IL-10 and an arrest in mononuclear phagocyte maturation which also renders them refractory to pro-inflammatory signals from activated $\gamma\delta$ and CD4 T cells, most notably IFN-γ [60].

The p38-MAPK signaling pathway has been shown to be an important pathway influenced by MAP in bovine macrophages. The p38-MAPK was more rapidly phosphorylated following phagocytosis of MAP by bovine monocytes as compared to *Mycobacterium avium* ssp. *avium* (MAA). These cells which had taken up MAP showed an increase in IL-10 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α expression and a lack of induction of IL-12, lack of acidification of phagolysosomes and reduced MAP killing. Chemical blocking of the p38-MAPK pathway leads to decreased expression of IL-10, increased expression of IL-12 and increased MAP killing indicating that early transient activation of p38-MAPK plays a key role in the capacity of MAP to survive and replicate in macrophages and DC [61]. Transcriptome analysis of infected monocyte derived macrophages indicated that MAP infection of macrophages leads to fast but transient upregulation of genes of the MAPK and IL-10 pathway which have an immunosuppressive effect on adaptive immune responses as well as upregulation of pro-inflammatory genes (IL1B, IL6). Similarly both pro- and anti-apoptotic genes are activated in the early stages of infection. During the first few hours of infection there is an apparent battle between the host and pathogen which wanes from 6 to 24 h post in vitro infection [62].

In conclusion MAP subverts multiple processes in the infected macrophages and DC in the first 6–24 h after infection. These changes which can be summarized as follows: MAP keeps the host cell alive by preventing apoptotic suicide of macrophages; MAP avoids being killed by interfering with phagolysosomal function of macrophages; MAP avoids being detected locally by manipulation of the expression of (signaling pathways of) cytokine and chemokine genes and thereby inducing an immunosuppressive environment and a spatial separation between the intestinal lesion and the systemic immune system; and the intracellular infection of (intestinal) DC leads to a delay or absence of proper DC maturation.

4. Adaptive immunity during paratuberculosis infection

4.1. Infected macrophage - T cell interaction

The poorly activated or subverted MAP infected DC will neither migrate efficiently to the draining lymph node nor function as a proper pro-inflammatory antigen presenting cell. Since the DC - T cell interaction in the draining lymph node is critical to proper induction of the adaptive immune response this will impair optimal induction of pro-inflammatory protective T cells in the draining lymph node and subsequent migratory properties of these T cells. The consequence being a delayed activation of T cell responses hampering protective immunity due to late arrival at infected sites [42,63]. In addition, changes in the infected macrophage are established rapidly and the basic changes happen in the first 6 – 24 h of infection. If these infected macrophages are trapped in intestinal tissue and do not signal infection and or inflammation they are hard to find for circulating T cells. This leaves a very small window for an effective adaptive T cell based immune response.

In order for the T cell adaptive immune response to be able to stimulate infected macrophages to kill the intracellular mycobacteria (predominantly through CD4 T cells) or to kill infected macrophages cells have to be able to migrate from the blood to a lesion. Upon intracellular infection, the macrophage will through a proinflammatory response attempt to attract T cells, however MAP tries to counteract this via the induction of antiinflammatory pathways but also specifically through inhibition of RANTES and MCP chemokine gene expression in infected macrophages which will result in a lack of T cell recruitment to infection sites [64].

For T cells, which through local inflammatory signals have migrated to the lesions, recognition of infected macrophages critically depends on the specific interaction of the T cell receptor (TCR) with macrophage expressed major histocompatibility complex (MHC) containing MAP specific peptide molecules. However in vitro studies indicated that upon intracellular infection of macrophages and DC, MAP avoids being detected by down regulation of MHC and/or co-receptors of Ag presentation and activation [65,66]. In in vitro generated MAP-infected DC, antigen presentation through MHC class II was impaired [59] and, in MAP-infected cattle, expression of MHC class I molecules were upregulated at early MAP infection, suggesting a CD8 biased antigen presentation profile [65].

In in vitro infection models after an initial activation of gene expression, MAP rapidly (within 6-24 h) shuts down the pro-inflammatory T cell immunity by induction of immunosuppressive cytokines (IL-10, TGF- β), impairment of CD40 signaling which is an important macrophage receptor for CD40L on Th1 type T cells to maintain a Th1 immune response [66]. Furthermore it has been observed that MAP infection of monocyte derived macrophages inhibits IFN- γ induced signaling. Since NK and T cell derived IFN- γ is thought to be an important cytokine in the protection against intracellular pathogens including pathogenic mycobacteria, inhibition of these pathways is an important virulence mechanism [67].

Finally similar to other pathogenic mycobacterial infections such as tuberculosis, infected macrophages can inhibit or kill adaptive immune T cells through a number of different routes such as contact via Fas/FasL interaction, soluble modulators originating from host cells (TGF- β , TNF- α , FasL and Bcl-2) [68], and secreted bacterial antigens such as in tuberculosis, where the early secreted antigen ESAT-6 has been shown to directly inhibit human T cell responses [69]. The observation that this process may be focused on or biased towards antigen specific T cells contributes to the hypothesis that killing specific T cells is part of the pathogenic mechanism of mycobacteria contributing to the observed late stage T cell anergy. In paratuberculosis this antigen specific CD4 T cell depletion has been observed in particular when studying local intestinal T cell responses [12]. The induction of T cell apoptosis as a result of T cell – macrophage interaction in ovine MAP infection has also been described [70].

4.2. The Th1 - Th2 paradigm revisited

Paratuberculosis and other chronic mycobacterial infections typically show persistence of the pathogen in the presence of an antigen specific immune response. For decades, studies have investigated the attributes of a protective immune response. The Th1/Th2 paradigm for classifying CD4 T helper cells has been a cornerstone of functional dissection of adaptive immune responses since the 1980's when these two lineages of helper T cells were first described by Mosmann et al. [71]. Subsequent studies with anti-mycobacterial responses in genetically modified mice pointed at a pivotal role for IFN-y / Th1 responses in containing infection as opposed by Th2 / IL-4 mediated responses [72]. Following suit using T cell proliferation and/or IFN-y and antibody production and/or IL-4 as proxy for Th1 and Th2, respectively the changes during progressive paratuberculosis have been attributed to a shift from an early Th1 biased potentially protective response to a Th2 biased response [14]. Comparisons of subclinically infected cows with cows in advanced clinical stages of infection showed that on average cell mediated responses in PBMC were higher in subclinical cows and antibody levels were higher in clinical cows. Association between bacterial shedding and switch pattern followed the hypothesis that if Th1 is protective then the loss of cell mediated immunity should lead to increased bacterial replication and shedding [11]. The switch has been attributed to infection load, T cell exhaustion and several more generic triggers such as hormonal changes in the periparturient period due to (metabolic) stress. Ultimately it is still unclear what is driving the shift in this model. A recent mathematical modeling study on the Th1/Th2 paradigm indicated that initial dose and bursting size control the timing of the switch [73]. Most of the data underlying these models were derived from PBMC and serum derived from animals in cross sectional studies usually in a setting of optimizing diagnosis of paratuberculosis.

In recent decades the Th1/Th2 paradigm has expanded to much higher complexity by the discovery that naïve CD4 T cells can additionally differentiate into several regulatory T cells (natural T cells with a regulatory phenotype (Treg), inducible Treg), pro-inflammatory Th17 T cells, Th9 T cells and polyfunctional T cells in a complex cross-regulatory network with antigen presenting cells such as DC and macrophages [74].

A role of natural or antigen specific regulatory T cells has been suggested to be involved in the progression of bovine paratuberculosis either directly or as a source of immunosuppressive IL-10 [28,75]. To definitively prove that classical CD4⁺CD25^{hi} T cells are the regulatory T cells driving the switch in bovine paratuberculosis may prove difficult due to the fact that functional suppression in cattle appears to be mediated by macrophages and subsets of $\gamma\delta T$ cells rather than natural $CD4^+CD25^{hi}$ Treg as observed in mice and humans [30,75]. In addition, most of these pathogenesis studies rely on in vitro assays and blood derived lymphocytes. Antigen specific functional data with intestinal lymphocytes is scarce although data gained with intestinal lymphocyte preparations do point to a lack of functional Th1 type T cells [12,28]. These studies show a clear difference between functional data obtained with PBMC, MLN cells and lamina propria lymphocytes and add to the question to which extent the circulating blood lymphocytes are representative of the local intestinal immunity.

In long-term longitudinal follow-up studies of (mostly) experimental infections it has, however, been difficult to confirm this pattern of switching from early cell mediated responses to late antibody responses. Especially from the longitudinal studies it has become apparent that both Th1 (IFN- γ) and Th2 (IgG1 antibody) responses occur, also in early stages of disease without clear indication of associating to progression and clinical disease [10,76]. In addition early transient induction of IL-10 as well as B cells have been observed following experimental infection in conjunction with IFN- γ as an early marker of infection [77,78].

There is an altered pattern of TLR gene expression in culled cows naturally infected with MAP. The data suggests that the upregulation of the expression of TLR-1 in response to MAP infection appears to be impaired in MLN and PBMC from infected cattle upon stimulation with MAP antigen [79]. Using the same cells it was reported that MAP antigen stimulation of MLN cells from the severely infected group with high lesion scores leads to significant upregulation of the mRNA expression of IFN-γ, IL-10, IL-13, IL-17A, and TNF-α. There was no significant upregulation of these cytokines in the control and less severely infected groups. In addition, major differences were observed between the responses of the PBMC and MLN cultures. Higher levels of secreted IFN-y from the MAP stimulated MLN cultures and, conversely, higher levels of IL-10 are released from the PBMC cultures [17]. Other studies using direct ex-vivo analysis of cytokine gene expression indicated an upregulation of IL-10 and TGF-β expression and a down regulation of IFN- γ expression in the intestinal wall when comparing subclinical and clinical cases of paratuberculosis [80]. Together these data show clear differences in response patterns from lymphocytes isolated from varying anatomical locations, notably MLN and blood. In addition, the data indicated that differences may be (in part) related to the antigenic load in the infected animal, which differs at different stages of disease. A recent histopathological study in combination with immune response data from Vazquez et al. indicated that when comparing lesion severity and adaptive immune responses, the IFN-y and antibody responses appear to be better correlated with overall lesion severity and bacterial load rather than indicating a switch from cell mediated (Th1) to Th2 responses [26]. Recent views in the field of tuberculosis also indicate that IFN-y is a pivotal cytokine for protection in murine models but in humans and cattle it is simultaneously considered as a marker for bacterial load and disease activity and it may be rather difficult to use as a measure of protection or immunopathogenesis [81]. This has led to the question whether a switch from Th1 to Th2 actually exists in paratuberculosis or whether in progressive paratuberculosis (antigen specific) exhaustion leads to a generalized failure of adaptive immunity in which the Th1 response generally fails first [19].

4.3. Immunity in the intestinal wall

It has become clear that the antigen presenting cells (APC) and the local environment where interaction between DC and T cell occurs are critical in determining the differentiation fate of naïve helper T cells and ensuing homing and effector functions [82]. In that respect the gut mucosal localization of the first contact between MAP and the immune system is significant. In the acute stage of controlled infection in a ligated loop infected model resulted in an acute migration of macrophages from the lamina propria into the gut lumen as well as invasion of MAP through epithelial surfaces [54]. After one hour, co-localization of MAP and macrophages in the lumen was observed. At 4 h post infection, infiltration of PMN and mononuclear cells into the lamina propria was observed. The infiltration of PMN and mononuclear cells was progressive during the first 12 h of infection [54]. Histopathological examination does not permit specific detection of infection at the early stages (1-12 weeks) after oral infection and changes such as the accumulation of PMN and mononuclear cells in the distal ileum are not observed [23]. This may signify a sampling and sensitivity issue, however, recent data also point to an early induction of host immune tolerance pathways by MAP during the first 12 h of infection and the abrogation of PMN and mononuclear cell migration thus a part of the pathogenic mechanisms enabling MAP survival and persistence [83].

Adequate pro-inflammatory response following uptake by the macrophages in the intestinal tract is especially challenging since the intestinal environment has to balance tolerogenic mechanisms to prevent adverse reactions to innocuous food components while maintaining an adequate defense against food borne pathogens [84]. The distal ileum in young ruminants is in essence a continuous PP which will regress during the first year of life almost exclusively occupied by B cells. There is a massive outflow of B cells from the anatomic site. In the early months of life the terminal ileum is exempt from the normal T cell recirculation indicating that T cell mediated immunity is non-existent in the area [85].

Recent experimental infections using an intestinal segment model in 10-14 day old calves studied immune response at 1 month and 9-11 months post infection [86,87]. Responses to early infection show that in the infected intestinal segments diffuse aggregates of acid fast bacteria are present in the lumen but no acid fast organisms can be observed following ZN staining in the mucosa or submucosa. All tissue samples of infected segments were, however, PCR positive indicating the presence of MAP DNA in the (sub)mucosa. Analysis on adaptive immune responses at this stage shows that in four calves, two responded with a serum antibody response to a 35 kD antigen while the others showed no antibody response to this antigen. None of the calves showed a clear IFN-y response in PBMC except for one antibody responder. Neither of the two antibody responders showed a high IFN-y response with cells from the draining MLN while both the calves that were seronegative had high MLN responses. Therefore these four calves were evenly split into two cell-mediated immunity (CMI) responders and two antibody responders. A parallel 10 segment per calf kinome response analysis also indicated a dichotomy, which upon comparison mirrored the immune response dichotomy. Pathway and gene ontology analysis revealed that differences in innate immune and interleukin signaling and particular differences in the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway distinguished the kinomic groupings [87]. Apparently very early after infection, differences in adaptive immune response patterns can be seen. Furthermore it is clear that MLN and PBMC responses are clearly different within individual animals. It is also clear that since all tissues were MAP PCR positive neither type of adaptive response pattern is protective. Finally it should be noted that two of three control calves also showed an IFN-y response to MAP lysate. This may indicate a more innate type of response directly to the MAP lysate possibly through NK cell activation or sensitization to environmental mycobacteria. In a similar experiment from the same group these ileal segments were examined nine months post infection. They showed that MAP was localized in the intestinal segment (sub)mucosa and was not detected by PCR in the mesenteric lymph node. MAP specific CD4 and $\gamma\delta$ – T cell responses were observed in MLN. In the lamina propria numbers of CD8 and y\delta-T cells increased and MAP-specific TNF- α and IFN- γ secretion by lamina propria leukocytes was also increased. There was a significant accumulation of macrophages and DC in the lamina propria, but the expression of mucosal TLR one through ten was not significantly changed by MAP infection [86]. Interestingly no increase in lamina propria CD4⁺ T cells was observed despite antigen specific CD4 T cell induction in MLN indicating a potential problem with the lymphocyte recirculation to tissue lesions. Again these responses did not confer protection to chronic infection, as MAP PCR of tissue was consistently positive with a lack of ZN staining indicating that the number of bacilli was small. Plattner et al. recently described studies with a matrigel skin implantation model and show that matrigel loaded with dead MAP leads to influx of CD4⁺ T cells. However in placebo control cows and cows with matrigel containing live MAP, no migration of CD4⁺ T cells is observed indicating that live MAP prevents macrophages and DC from either the induction of T effector memory cells and or generating the right signals to attract these CD4⁺ T cells to the site of infection [88]. Although this model is a skin based model it points out a potential mechanism leading to an inability to recruit an effective CD4⁺ T cell response during (early) infection to the site of infection.

5. Within host spatial aspects of MAP infections: targeting immunity to the lesion

Current data lead to a number of questions indicating knowledge gaps. Is Th1 the protective response or a measure of severity of disease? Are the peripheral Th1 T cells unable to "home" or find their target when they do home to the (vast) lamina propria)? Is there a bias towards a Th1 response in the early stages of infection?

Initiation of adaptive immune response requires migration of DC properly loaded with antigen and a proinflammatory make rather than tolerogenic to the draining lymph node where naïve T cells can be activated. Mucosal surfaces, such as the respiratory tract and the gastro-intestinal tract are part of the mucosal immune system. Taken together the mucosal epithelia comprise a vast and vulnerable barrier, which have to combine exchange of gasses and intake of nutritional components while simultaneously preventing microbial invasion.

Interactions between MAP and the bovine immune system occur at two distinct spatially separated locations connected by the circulatory system. The first compartment is the (small) intestines where lesions (defined as one or more infected macrophages) will form. The intestines and in particular the lamina propria is the primary place for the interaction of MAP with macrophages. A continuous afferent lymph fluid stream provides a unidirectional connection between the lamina propria with the draining lymph nodes. In this second compartment the interaction between the antigen presenting cell antibodies, T cells and B cells takes place. Following the interaction between the antigen presenting cell antibodies, T cells and B cells egress from the draining lymph node and enter the venous circulation. Most immunological and immunodiagnostic observations are made using serum and/or lymphocytes derived from blood which can be seen as a third compartment in this system [84].

Although the number of studies pertaining to MAP infection simultaneously comparing immune cellular composition and functionality is limited, there are clear indications that these compartments contain functionally different immune effector cells. Both phenotypic composition of cells isolated from the blood, MLN and lamina propria as well as antigen specific responses from these isolated cell populations show significant differences based on location as well as stage of infection: the latter pointing to a local loss of CD4⁺ T cells Th1 like proliferative responses and an accumulation of potentially regulatory $\gamma\delta$ – T cells [12]. Similarly in young experimentally infected calves, a dichotomy in MAP-specific immune responses was observed when comparing mucosal and systemic responses. To determine if an antibody response to MAP proteins could be detected, using serum samples collected before and one month after infection. Sera from two animals reacted antigen specifically after infection. PBMC isolated from the same two animals showed significant proliferation and IFN-y responses to MAP lysate. Calves that lacked antibodies reactive to the 35 kDa protein one month after infection showed strong proliferation and IFN-y responses by MLN cells, but not in PBMC [87].

5.1. Intestinal compartment

The intestinal mucosal immune system including the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) is phenotypically and functionally different from other compartments such as the blood, skin or respiratory tract. This is caused by the fact that in contrast to most other tissues the small and large intestine has to down regulate the continuous physiological inflammation due to the extensive constant antigenic load from luminal microorganisms and pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMP) to maintain homeostasis. Naïve T and B cells enter the GALT via high endothelial venules similar to entry into lymph nodes. CD4⁺ helper T cells activated in GALT are known to release cytokines such as TGF- β and IL-10, which drive the class switch and differentiation of mucosal B cells to predominantly IgA-committed plasma blasts. Both naïve and primed T and B cells migrate rapidly from GALT via draining lymphatics to MLN where they may be further stimulated; they next reach thoracic duct lymph and peripheral blood to become seeded by preferential homing mechanisms into distant mucosal effector sites (Figures 1 and 2). This process is directed by the rapidly acquired profile of adhesion molecules and chemokines expressed on the intestinal endothelial cells which function as a local gatekeeper for cellular entry into the dominant effector site, the lamina propria. This is modulated by additional signals from local antigen-sampling DC, resident lamina propria CD4+ T cells, and the cytokine milieu. The combined effect of oral tolerance mechanisms, mainly the action of regulatory T cells, provides a suppressive tone in the gut, normally keeping Th2 inflammation driven by IgG and IgE antibodies as well as Th1 cellmediated responses and delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) as well as pro-inflammatory Th17 responses under tight control [82].

MAP is translocated from the intestinal lumen via M cells [3] and enterocytes [5] into the lamina propria and taken up by resident DC and macrophages. Recent data using experimental infection ligated intestinal loops also show migration of macrophages and DC towards the intestinal lumen containing MAP [54]. These data indicate that active sampling of intestinal content by DC may also lead to the uptake of MAP. Recent data suggest that the resident intestinal DC are "educated" by intestinal epithelial cells to suppress inflammation and to promote immunological tolerance. Recent studies in cattle have also indicated the presence of a large variety of intestinal phenotypically different and likely specialized DC with migratory properties [89]. Since MAP enters via M-cell and enterocytes without perceivable tissue damage, there is likely no pro-inflammatory response following the entry of MAP. Subsequently MAP survives inside macrophages and is able to replicate and transform the macrophage/DC into a tolerogenic state. In the early stages of infection there is not much activity in the lamina propria such as attraction of lymphocytes or additional monocytes. Although in (experimental) oral infections it is difficult to find histological lesions, MAP IS900 PCR of tissue is frequently positive and, the targeted intestinal loop infections indicate the existence of a large number of MAP positive macrophages in early stages some of which (will) form granulomas.

Initial stages will therefore be limited to the interaction between MAP within the resident DC/macrophages and local T cells. A commonly used model for the direct MAP-macrophage interactions is the in vitro culture of macrophages (mostly monocyte derived macrophages) with MAP. Caveats in our knowledge are the role of the intestinal microenvironment, time, host and pathogen genetic effects. Functional studies indicate that among the changes occurring in infected macrophages a number lead



to death of (Th1) T cells either through cell-cell contact such as Fas/FasL mediated activation induced cell death (AICD) [90] macrophage production of TNF α or the production of T cell toxic molecules excreted by the intracellular mycobacteria [69]. Local data are not abundant, however, in established lesions of paratuberculosis, the T cell population in the lamina propria changes showing a significant loss of CD4⁺ T cells and the concomitant increase of potentially regulatory $\gamma\delta$ – T cells [12] indicating that similar mechanisms may occur in MAP granulomas.

Rather than directly originating from lesions it is most likely that early events of MAP specific adaptive immunity are related to uptake of MAP by pro-inflammatory DC or macrophages activated through unrelated events and migrating towards secondary lymphoid organs at the time of encountering MAP or MAP antigens (secreted antigens or remnants of dead mycobacteria). When taken up and processed by pro-inflammatory macrophages proper antigen degradation and presentation will follow in a draining lymph node. This will lead to activation of pro-inflammatory T cells which will enter the circulation. These are typically the antibodies and cells present in routinely-taken samples of peripheral blood [87].

The intestinal afferent lymph contains a large and diverse population of cells. Among these are the recirculating T cells exiting intestinal tissue and migrating towards the draining lymph node. The afferent lymph also contains many immature DC migrating from intestinal tissue to the draining lymph node with antigen [91]. These can be both tolerogenic and inflammatory and ensuing contact with T cells in the lymph node will determine the adaptive response to the presented antigens biasing towards IL-5/IL13 producing Th2 T cells and subsequent B cell activation and antibody production, Th1/Th17 T cells and subsequent generation of IFN-y/IL17 producing pro-inflammatory effector T cells and/or IL-10 producing Treg with anti-inflammatory properties. In general intestinal baseline T cell cytokine signatures are biased towards a Th2 and/or Treg T cells rather than Th1 [92].

5.2. Mesenteric lymph nodes and blood

The induction of effector T cells requires the movement of antigen-loaded APC to a secondary lymphoid organ (e.g. mesenteric lymph node) and the presentation of antigen to specific T cells. Upon activation these T cells need to commit and differentiate into effector and memory T cells. Subsequently these cells have to exit the lymph node, enter the circulation and migrate to the intestine. Although data is rather scarce especially in cattle it has been reported using models of efferent and pseudo-afferent lymph cannulation that it would take the $\gamma\delta$ – T cell population abundantly present in pseudoafferent lymph 46 h for a full surveillance of the drained skin area [93]. When studying vaccination induced activation of CD4 T cells in the lymph cannulation model using MAP Hsp70 as antigen it takes 2 days for antigen specific T cells to start exiting from the lymph node to enter the circulation [94]. So both the time to activate effector cells as well as the time the system requires to survey the peripheral tissue well exceeds the 12-24 h MAP needs to impose its immune evasion mechanisms on the macrophage following macrophage infection. However upon return to the intestine, chances are in overwhelming favor of the situation that the activating antigen cannot be found and the responder T cells will recirculate without seeing their antigen in the proper context during their lifespan.

As a consequence even with the generation of an in theory protective IFN- γ^+ CD4⁺ T cell response the chance of failure of these T cells to detect infected macrophages is substantial (see Figure 2).

The majority of the T cells that are found when sampling venous blood in infected animals will reflect the amount of antigen arriving at the various intestinal draining lymph nodes and the context in which they are locally presented in the lymph node to T cells. As such they may reflect the intestinal disease activity and circulation of free antigen between the intestinal wall and the draining lymph node rather than be a measure of protective or permissive immune responses. In that sense the responses measured using PBMC could be used to predict disease outcome but should be interpreted with great care with respect to pathogenesis and correlates of protection since PBMC responses may not be representative of local reactions [95]. This notion is enhanced by a surprising lack of agreement between cytokine responses obtained from antigen stimulated PBMC and MLN cells from naturally infected cattle [17]. Earlier data comparing PBMC, MLN and LPL antigen stimulated recall responses also indicated this discrepancy [12]. In a study in which $CD4^+$ T cells were depleted in infected calves using monoclonal antibodies, no effect on the course of disease was observed despite documented T cell depletion [96]. Finally also T cell immunosuppressive treatment of latent phase MAP infected cows does not accelerate disease progression [97]. These data point to an inability of the adaptive T cell response to mount a protective immune response at the infection sites. This is likely a combination of the time it takes to mount a T cell response, get T cells to the lesion and the more rapidly acquired immunosuppressive status of locally infected macrophages to among others block T cell effector mechanisms.

5.3. Towards a different dynamic within host model for MAP The overall spatio-temperal aspect of the pathogenesis of bovine paratuberculosis has not been comprehensively studied thus far. Current data has made it clear that MAP has an elaborate array of immune evasive mechanisms and the ability to change infected macrophages into niches for replication in a matter of 6–24 h. From vaccination studies we know that it takes days to weeks to generate an adaptive immune response which can be measured in blood samples. However major efforts aiming at the development of vaccines inducing Th1 type immune responses have not yielded major successes in either tuberculosis or paratuberculosis.

The temporal aspects of the development of immune responses as observed in peripheral blood samples has been studied in detail, however, the variation in response patterns seems to preclude a uniform pattern. The kinetics of T cell responses thought to be protective are elusive. A re-evaluation of the role of CD4⁺ T cells is especially needed. With evidence building that CD4⁺ T cells are unable to locally perform their task, and a lack of efficient homing to the lesions observed, responses in peripheral blood derived CD4⁺ T cells made constitute an epiphenomena related to the severity of infection rather than a measure of control over the infection. This also suggests that the course of infection that we observe regarding the MAP shedding pattern is independent of the adaptive immune responses measured.

The role of B cells and antibodies has been largely ignored in MAP and TB, however, mouse studies have shown antibody mediated protection in TB models [98]. Antigen specific antibody responses more consistently appear 2-3 years after infection. As a philosophical question it can posed whether the "lack" of antibody response in early stages of mycobacterial infection is coincidental or is there an active immune evasion induced by MAP and other pathogenic mycobacteria to prevent such induction of B cell responses which is then even more pronounced than the effect on T cell responses. Although early activation of B cells has been documented, this appears to be abrogated as a potential pathogenic mechanism of MAP [78]. Vaccine induced antibody mediated protection with Hsp70 vaccination in cattle has been shown both when applied early after infection [99] as well as in an extreme post exposure setting [100]. As antibodies are homogenously dispersed in serum and interstitial fluid there are no migration issues as with T cells. As a result of a limited life span of macrophages MAP has to leave the macrophage periodically to find new host cells. This provides opportunities for antibody MAP interaction and thus provides multiple intervention points. The ultimate challenge lies in identifying early "infectious phenotype" associated antigens of MAP which can be used as a vaccine target for the prevention of new infection. In addition, its combination with antigens such as the 70 kD heat shock protein (Hsp70) would benefit infection control as well. So in reality, a multipronged approach is needed.

6. Conclusions

MAP is a highly successful intracellular pathogen that has specialized mechanisms of effacement, entry and establishment of infection in a wide range of hosts. Existing experimental and natural infection derived data on immune responses clearly indicate a complex, yet a deterministic pattern. The applications of immune responses and modulation of cellular populations in the infected tissues as well as in circulation as biomarkers of protection against a vaccine or establishment of infection and progression of disease still need refinement. Furthermore, MAP genomic variations and their in-vivo correlations with immune response modulation or interaction with hosts of a variety of genetic backgrounds is not clearly established. Focused longitudinal studies on MAP progression of disease as modulated by host or pathogen genotype are needed. With evidence mounting that a strong (vaccine induced) Th1 type T cell mediated immunity does not lead to protection per se and indications that vaccine induced antibodies may contribute to protection in tuberculosis and paratuberculosis the

reevaluation of the dynamic aspects of the pathogenesis of paratuberculosis is necessary since it may aid conceptual thinking of the concept of protective immunity.

7. Abbreviations

MAP: *Mycobacterium avium* ssp. *paratuberculosis*; PP: Peyer's patch; IL: Interleukin; DC: Dendritic cell; IFN: Interferon; PBMC: Peripheral blood mononuclear cell; IGRA: Interferon Gamma Release Assay; TGF: Transforming growth factor; MLN: Mesenteric lymph node; TB: Tuberculosis; ZN: Ziehl–Neelsen; iNOS: Inducible nitric oxide synthase; KO: Knock-out; PMN: Polymorphonuclear leukocyte; MNGC: Multi nucleated giant cells; SCID: Severe combined immuno deficient; MAC: *Mycobacterium avium* complex; NK: Natural killer; IEL: Intra epithelial lymphocytes; LPL: Lamina propria lymphocytes; TLR: Toll-like receptor; CR: Complement receptor; LPS: Lipopolysaccharide; MAA: *Mycobacterium avium* ssp. *avium*; TNF: Tumor necrosis factor; TCR: T cell receptor; MHC: Major histocompatibility complex; Treg: T cells with regulatory phenotype; APC: Antigen-presenting cell; CMI: Cell-mediated immunity; GALT: Gut-associated lymphoid tissue; PAMP: Pathogen-associated molecular pattern; AICD: Activation induced cell death.

8. Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

9. Authors' contributions

AK conceived the outline of the manuscript and wrote the initial version. Besides critical reading SS made essential contributions to the microbiology sections and SE similarly contributed to the immunology sections of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

10. Acknowledgements

The authors thank Judy Stabel and Eiichi Momotani for critical reading of the manuscript. The authors acknowledge the support of the Within-host modeling of MAP infections Working Group at the National Institute for Mathematical and Biological Synthesis, sponsored by the National Science Foundation, the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, and the U.S. Department of Agriculture through NSF Award DBI-1300426, with additional support from The University of Tennessee, Knoxville.

Author details

¹Department of Bacteriology and TSE, Central Veterinary Institute of Wageningen UR, Lelystad, The Netherlands. ²Department of Farm Animal Health, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands. ³Department of Forestry, Wildlife and Fisheries, University of Tennessee, Koxville, TN 37996, USA. ⁴Veterinary Population Medicine Department, College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Minnesota, St Paul, MN 55108, USA.

Received: 16 September 2014 Accepted: 7 January 2015 Published online: 19 June 2015

11. References

- Sweeney RW, Collins MT, Koets AP, McGuirk SM, Roussel AJ (2012) Paratuberculosis (Johne's disease) in cattle and other susceptible species. J Vet Intern Med 26:1239–1250
- Mitchell RM, Medley GF, Collins MT, Schukken YH (2012) A meta-analysis of the effect of dose and age at exposure on shedding of Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis (MAP) in experimentally infected calves and cows. Epidemiol Infect 140:231–246
- Momotani E, Whipple DL, Thiermann AB, Cheville NF (1988) Role of M cells and macrophages in the entrance of Mycobacterium paratuberculosis into domes of ileal Peyer's patches in calves. Vet Pathol 25:131–137
- Bannantine JP, Bermudez LE (2013) No holes barred: invasion of the intestinal mucosa by Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis. Infect Immun 81:3960–3965
- Ponnusamy D, Periasamy S, Tripathi BN, Pal A (2013) Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis invades through M cells and enterocytes across ileal and jejunal mucosa of lambs. Res Vet Sci 94:306–312
- Lamont EA, O'Grady SM, Davis WC, Eckstein T, Sreevatsan S (2012) Infection with Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis results in rapid interleukin-1beta release and macrophage transepithelial migration. Infect Immun 80:3225–3235

- Bermudez LE, Petrofsky M, Sommer S, Barletta RG (2010) Peyer's patch-deficient mice demonstrate that Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis translocates across the mucosal barrier via both M cells and enterocytes but has inefficient dissemination. Infect Immun 78:3570–3577
- Arsenault RJ, Maattanen P, Daigle J, Potter A, Griebel P, Napper S (2014) From mouth to macrophage: mechanisms of innate immune subversion by Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis. Vet Res 45:54
- Espejo LA, Godden S, Hartmann WL, Wells SJ (2012) Reduction in incidence of Johne's disease associated with implementation of a disease control program in Minnesota demonstration herds. J Dairy Sci 95:4141–4152
- Stewart DJ, Vaughan JA, Stiles PL, Noske PJ, Tizard ML, Prowse SJ, Michalski WP, Butler KL, Jones SL (2007) A long-term bacteriological and immunological study in Holstein-Friesian cattle experimentally infected with Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis and necropsy culture results for Holstein-Friesian cattle, Merino sheep and Angora goats. Vet Microbiol 122:83–96
- 11. Sweeney RW (2011) Pathogenesis of paratuberculosis. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 27:537–546
- Koets A, Rutten V, Hoek A, van Mil F, Muller K, Bakker D, Gruys E, van Eden W (2002) Progressive bovine paratuberculosis is associated with local loss of CD4(+) T cells, increased frequency of gamma delta T cells, and related changes in T-cell function. Infect Immun 70:3856–3864
- Sweeney RW, Jones DE, Habecker P, Scott P (1998) Interferon-gamma and interleukin 4 gene expression in cows infected with Mycobacterium paratuberculosis. Am J Vet Res 59:842–847
- 14. Stabel JR (2000) Transitions in immune responses to Mycobacterium paratuberculosis. Vet Microbiol 77:465–473
- Khalifeh MS, Stabel JR (2004) Effects of gamma interferon, interleukin-10, and transforming growth factor beta on the survival of Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis in monocyte-derived macrophages from naturally infected cattle. Infect Immun 72:1974–1982
- Weiss DJ, Souza CD (2008) Review paper: modulation of mononuclear phagocyte function by Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis. Vet Pathol 45:829–841
- Shu D, Subharat S, Wedlock DN, Luo D, de Lisle GW, Buddle BM (2011) Diverse cytokine profile from mesenteric lymph node cells of cull cows severely affected with Johne's disease. Clin Vaccine Immunol 18:1467–1476
- Subharat S, Shu D, Wedlock DN, Price-Carter M, de Lisle GW, Luo D, Collins DM, Buddle BM (2012) Immune responses associated with progression and control of infection in calves experimentally challenged with Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 149:225–236
- Begg DJ, de Silva K, Carter N, Plain KM, Purdie A, Whittington RJ (2011) Does a Th1 over Th2 dominancy really exist in the early stages of Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis infections? Immunobiology 216:840–846
- van Hulzen KJ, Koets AP, Nielen M, Heuven HC, van Arendonk JA, Klinkenberg D (2014) The effect of genetic selection for Johne's disease resistance in dairy cattle: results of a genetic-epidemiological model. J Dairy Sci 97:1762–1773
- Gollnick NS, Mitchell RM, Baumgart M, Janagama HK, Sreevatsan S, Schukken YH (2007) Survival of Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis in bovine monocyte-derived macrophages is not affected by host infection status but depends on the infecting bacterial genotype. Vet Immunol Ommunopathol 120:93–105
- 22. Buergelt CD, Hall C, McEntee K, Duncan JR (1978) Pathological evaluation of paratuberculosis in naturally infected cattle. Vet Pathol 15:196–207
- Sweeney RW, Uzonna J, Whitlock RH, Habecker PL, Chilton P, Scott P (2006) Tissue predilection sites and effect of dose on Mycobacterium avium subs. paratuberculosis organism recovery in a short-term bovine experimental oral infection model. Res Vet Sci 80:253–259
- 24. Clarke CJ (1997) The pathology and pathogenesis of paratuberculosis in ruminants and other species. J Comp Pathol 116:217–261
- Gonzalez J, Geijo MV, Garcia-Pariente C, Verna A, Corpa JM, Reyes LE, Ferreras MC, Juste RA, Marin JFG, Perez V (2005) Histopathological classification of lesions associated with natural paratuberculosis infection in cattle. J Comp Pathol 133:184–196
- 26. Vazquez P, Garrido JM, Juste RA (2013) Specific antibody and interferongamma responses associated with immunopathological forms of bovine paratuberculosis in slaughtered friesian cattle. PLoS One 8:e64568
- Hostetter J, Huffman E, Byl K, Steadham E (2005) Inducible nitric oxide synthase immunoreactivity in the granulomatous intestinal lesions of naturally occurring bovine Johne's disease. Vet Pathol 42:241–249

- Weiss DJ, Evanson OA, Souza CD (2006) Mucosal immune response in cattle with subclinical Johne's disease. Vet Pathol 43:127–135
- Lee H, Stabel JR, Kehrli ME, Jr (2001) Cytokine gene expression in ileal tissues of cattle infected with Mycobacterium paratuberculosis. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 82:73–85
- Hoek A, Rutten VP, Kool J, Arkesteijn GJ, Bouwstra RJ, Van Rhijn I, Koets AP (2009) Subpopulations of bovine WC1(+) gammadelta T cells rather than CD4(+)CD25(high) Foxp3(+) T cells act as immune regulatory cells ex vivo. Vet Res 40:6
- Kruger C, Kohler H, Liebler-Tenorio EM (2015) Sequential development of lesions 3, 6, 9, and 12 months after experimental infection of goat kids with Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis. Vet Pathol 52:276–290
- Lin PL, Ford CB, Coleman MT, Myers AJ, Gawande R, loerger T, Sacchettini J, Fortune SM, Flynn JL (2014) Sterilization of granulomas is common in active and latent tuberculosis despite within-host variability in bacterial killing. Nat Med 20:75–79
- van Furth R, Cohn ZA (1968) The origin and kinetics of mononuclear phagocytes. J Exp Med 128:415–435
- Crofton RW, Diesselhoff-den Dulk MM, van Furth R (1978) The origin, kinetics, and characteristics of the Kupffer cells in the normal steady state. J Exp Med 148:1–17
- van oud Alblas AB, van Furth R (1979) Origin, Kinetics, and characteristics of pulmonary macrophages in the normal steady state. J Exp Med 149:1504–1518
- 36. Ingersoll MA, Platt AM, Potteaux S, Randolph GJ (2011) Monocyte trafficking in acute and chronic inflammation. Trends Immunol 32:470–477
- Yoshihara K, Nagata R, Muneta Y, Inumaru S, Yokomizo Y, Mori Y (2004) Generation of multinucleated giant cells in vitro from bovine monocytes and macrophages. J Vet Med Sci 66:1065–1069
- van Hulzen KJ, Heuven HC, Nielen M, Hoeboer J, Santema WJ, Koets AP (2011) Different Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis MIRU-VNTR patterns coexist within cattle herds. Vet Microbiol 148:419–424
- Raizman EA, Fetrow J, Wells SJ, Godden SM, Oakes MJ, Vazquez G (2007) The association between Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis fecal shedding or clinical Johne's disease and lactation performance on two Minnesota, USA dairy farms. Prev Vet Med 78:179–195
- 40. Koets A, Santema W, Mertens H, Oostenrijk D, Keestra M, Overdijk M, Labouriau R, Franken P, Frijters A, Nielen M, Rutten V (2010) Susceptibility to paratuberculosis infection in cattle is associated with single nucleotide polymorphisms in Toll-like receptor 2 which modulate immune responses against Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis. Prev Vet Med 93:305–315
- Bruns H, Stenger S (2014) New insights into the interaction of Mycobacterium tuberculosis and human macrophages. Future Microbiol 9:327–341
- 42. Ehlers S, Schaible UE (2012) The granuloma in tuberculosis: dynamics of a host-pathogen collusion. Front Immunol 3:411
- Mutwiri GK, Butler DG, Rosendal S, Yager J (1992) Experimental infection of severe combined immunodeficient beige mice with Mycobacterium paratuberculosis of bovine origin. Infect Immun 60:4074–4079
- Barry CE, 3rd, Boshoff HI, Dartois V, Dick T, Ehrt S, Flynn J, Schnappinger D, Wilkinson RJ, Young D (2009) The spectrum of latent tuberculosis: rethinking the biology and intervention strategies. Nat Rev Microbiol 7:845–855
- Weber MF, Kogut J, de Bree J, van Schaik G, Nielen M (2010) Age at which dairy cattle become Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis faecal culture positive. Prev Vet Med 97:29–36
- Periasamy S, Tripathi BN, Singh N (2013) Mechanisms of Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis induced apoptosis and necrosis in bovine macrophages. Vet Microbiol 165:392–401
- Behar SM, Martin CJ, Booty MG, Nishimura T, Zhao X, Gan HX, Divangahi M, Remold HG (2011) Apoptosis is an innate defense function of macrophages against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Mucosal Immunol 4:279–287
- Kabara E, Coussens PM (2012) Infection of primary bovine macrophages with Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis suppresses host cell apoptosis. Front Microbiol 3:215
- Dobson B, Liggett S, O'Brien R, Griffin JF (2013) Innate immune markers that distinguish red deer (Cervus elaphus) selected for resistant or susceptible genotypes for Johne's disease. Vet Res 44:5
- 50. Early J, Fischer K, Bermudez LE (2011) Mycobacterium avium uses apoptotic macrophages as tools for spreading. Microb Pathog 50:132–139

- Repasy T, Lee J, Marino S, Martinez N, Kirschner DE, Hendricks G, Baker S, Wilson AA, Kotton DN, Kornfeld H (2013) Intracellular bacillary burden reflects a burst size for Mycobacterium tuberculosis in vivo. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003190
- Zurbrick BG, Czuprynski CJ (1987) Ingestion and intracellular growth of Mycobacterium paratuberculosis within bovine blood monocytes and monocyte-derived macrophages. Infect Immun 55:1588–1593
- You Q, Verschoor CP, Pant SD, Macri J, Kirby GM, Karrow NA (2012) Proteomic analysis of plasma from Holstein cows testing positive for Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis (MAP). Vet Immunol Immunopathol 148:243–251
- Khare S, Nunes JS, Figueiredo JF, Lawhon SD, Rossetti CA, Gull T, Rice-Ficht AC, Adams LG (2009) Early phase morphological lesions and transcriptional responses of bovine ileum infected with Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis. Vet Pathol 46:717–728
- Charavaryamath C, Fries P, Gomis S, Bell C, Doig K, Guan LL, Potter A, Napper S, Griebel PJ (2011) Mucosal changes in a long-term bovine intestinal segment model following removal of ingesta and microflora. Gut Microbes 2:134–144
- Woo SR, Czuprynski ⊂J (2008) Tactics of Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis for intracellular survival in mononuclear phagocytes. J Vet Sci 9:1–8
- Hostetter J, Kagan R, Steadham E (2005) Opsonization effects on Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis-macrophage interactions. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 12:793–796
- Woo SR, Heintz JA, Albrecht R, Barletta RG, Czuprynski CJ (2007) Life and death in bovine monocytes: the fate of Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis. Microb Pathog 43:106–113
- Lei L, Hostetter JM (2007) Limited phenotypic and functional maturation of bovine monocyte-derived dendritic cells following Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis infection in vitro. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 120:177–186
- Simutis FJ, Jones DE, Hostetter JM (2007) Failure of antigen-stimulated gamma delta T cells and CD4+ T cells from sensitized cattle to upregulate nitric oxide and mycobactericidal activity of autologous Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis-infected macrophages. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 116:1–12
- Souza CD, Evanson OA, Weiss DJ (2006) Mitogen activated protein kinase p38 pathway is an important component of the anti-inflammatory response in Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis-infected bovine monocytes. Microb Pathog 41:59–66
- 62. Machugh DE, Taraktsoglou M, Killick KE, Nalpas NC, Browne JA, De Park S, Hokamp K, Gormley E, Magee DA (2012) Pan-genomic analysis of bovine monocyte-derived macrophage gene expression in response to in vitro infection with Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis. Vet Res 43:25
- 63. Urdahl KB, Shafiani S, Ernst JD (2011) Initiation and regulation of T-cell responses in tuberculosis. Mucosal Immunol 4:288–293
- 64. Buza JJ, Mori Y, Bari AM, Hikono H, Aodon G, Hirayama S, Shu Y, Momotani E (2003) Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis infection causes suppression of RANTES, monocyte chemoattractant protein 1, and tumor necrosis factor alpha expression in peripheral blood of experimentally infected cattle. Infect Immun 71:7223–7227
- 65. Purdie AC, Plain KM, Begg DJ, de Silva K, Whittington RJ (2012) Expression of genes associated with the antigen presentation and processing pathway are consistently regulated in early Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis infection. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 35:151–162
- 66. Sommer S, Pudrith CB, Colvin CJ, Coussens PM (2009) Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis suppresses expression of IL-12p40 and iNOS genes induced by signalling through CD40 in bovine monocytederived macrophages. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 128:44–52
- 67. Weiss DJ, Evanson OA, Souza CD (2005) Expression of interleukin-10 and suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 associated with susceptibility of cattle to infection with Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis. Am J Vet Res 66:1114–1120
- Hirsch CS, Johnson JL, Okwera A, Kanost RA, Wu M, Peters P, Muhumuza M, Mayanja-Kizza H, Mugerwa RD, Mugyenyi P, Ellner JJ, Toossi Z (2005) Mechanisms of apoptosis of T-cells in human tuberculosis. J Clin Immunol 25:353–364
- Macdonald SH, Woodward E, Coleman MM, Dorris ER, Nadarajan P, Chew WM, McLaughlin AM, Keane J (2012) Networked T cell death following macrophage infection by Mycobacterium tuberculosis. PLoS One 7:e38488

- de Silva K, Browne S, Begg DJ, Whittington RJ, Emery D (2013) Apoptosis of lymph node and peripheral blood cells in ovine Johne's disease. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 156:82–90
- Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL (1986) Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. J Immunol 136:2348–2357
- Wangoo A, Sparer T, Brown IN, Snewin VA, Janssen R, Thole J, Cook HT, Shaw RJ, Young DB (2001) Contribution of Th1 and Th2 cells to protection and pathology in experimental models of granulomatous lung disease. J Immunol 166:3432–3439
- Magombedze G, Eda S, Ganusov W (2014) Competition for antigen between Th1 and Th2 responses determines the timing of the immune response switch during Mycobaterium avium subspecies paratuberulosis infection in ruminants. PLoS Comput Biol 10:e1003414
- 74. Chen Z, O'Shea JJ (2008) Th17 cells: a new fate for differentiating helper T cells. Immunol Res 41:87–102
- Coussens PM, Sipkovsky S, Murphy B, Roussey J, Colvin CJ (2012) Regulatory T cells in cattle and their potential role in bovine paratuberculosis. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 35:233–239
- Waters WR, Miller JM, Palmer MV, Stabel JR, Jones DE, Koistinen KA, Steadham EM, Hamilton MJ, Davis WC, Bannantine JP (2003) Early induction of humoral and cellular immune responses during experimental Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis infection of calves. Infect Immun 71:5130–5138
- Stabel JR, Robbe-Austerman S (2011) Early immune markers associated with Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis infection in a neonatal calf model. Clin Vaccine Immunol 18:393–405
- Stabel JR, Bannantine JP, Eda S, Robbe-Austerman S (2011) Induction of B cell responses upon experimental infection of neonatal calves with Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis. Clin Vaccine Immunol 18:1139–1149
- Subharat S, Shu DR, de Lisle GW, Buddle BM, Wedlock DN (2012) Altered patterns of toll-like receptor gene expression in cull cows infected with Mycobacterium avium subsp paratuberculosis. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 145:471–478
- Khalifeh MS, Stabel JR (2004) Upregulation of transforming growth factorbeta and interleukin-10 in cows with clinical Johne's disease. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 99:39–46
- Lalvani A, Millington KA (2008) T Cells and Tuberculosis: Beyond Interferongamma. J Infect Dis 197:941–943
- 82. Agace WW (2008) T-cell recruitment to the intestinal mucosa. Trends Immunol 29:514–522
- Khare S, Lawhon SD, Drake KL, Nunes JE, Figueiredo JF, Rossetti CA, Gull T, Everts RE, Lewin HA, Galindo CL, Garner HR, Adams LG (2012) Systems biology analysis of gene expression during in vivo Mycobacterium avium paratuberculosis enteric colonization reveals role for immune tolerance. PLoS One 7:e42127
- Coussens PM (2004) Model for immune responses to Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis in cattle. Infect Immun 72:3089–3096
- Hein WR, Dudler L, Mackay CR (1989) Surface expression of differentiation antigens on lymphocytes in the ileal and jejunal Peyer's patches of lambs. Immunology 68:365–370
- Charavaryamath C, Gonzalez-Cano P, Fries P, Gomis S, Doig K, Scruten E, Potter A, Napper S, Griebel PJ (2013) Host responses to persistent Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis infection in surgically isolated bovine ileal segments. Clin Vaccine Immunol 20:156–165
- Maattanen P, Trost B, Scruten E, Potter A, Kusalik A, Griebel P, Napper S (2013) Divergent immune responses to Mycobacterium avium subsp. paratuberculosis infection correlate with kinome responses at the site of intestinal infection. Infect Immun 81:2861–2872
- Plattner BL, Huffman E, Jones DE, Hostetter JM (2014) T lymphocyte responses during early enteric Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis infection in cattle. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 157:12–19
- Fries P, Popowych YI, Guanle L, Beskorwayne T, Potter A, Babiuk L, Griebel PJ (2011) Mucosal dendritic cell subpopulations in the small intestine of newborn calves. Dev Comp Immunol 35:1040–1051
- Soruri A, Schweyer S, Radzun HJ, Fayyazi A (2002) Mycobacterial antigens induce apoptosis in human purified protein derivative-specific alphabeta T lymphocytes in a concentration-dependent manner. Immunology 105:222–230
- Hein WR, Barber T, Cole SA, Morrison L, Pernthaner A (2004) Long-term collection and characterization of afferent lymph from the ovine small intestine. J Immunol Methods 293:153–168

- Pernthaner A, Cole SA, Morrison L, Hein WR (2005) Increased expression of interleukin-5 (IL-5), IL-13, and tumor necrosis factor alpha genes in intestinal lymph cells of sheep selected for enhanced resistance to nematodes during infection with Trichostrongylus colubriformis. Infect Immun 73:2175–2183
- Van Rhijn I, Rutten VP, Charleston B, Smits M, van Eden W, Koets AP (2007) Massive, sustained gammadelta T cell migration from the bovine skin in vivo. J Leukoc Biol 81:968–973
- Vrieling M, Santema W, Vordermeier M, Rutten V, Koets A (2013) Hsp70 vaccination-induced primary immune responses in efferent lymph of the draining lymph node. Vaccine 31:4720–4727
- de Silva K, Begg DJ, Plain KM, Purdie AC, Kawaji S, Dhand NK, Whittington RJ (2013) Can early host responses to mycobacterial infection predict eventual disease outcomes? Prev Vet Med 112:203–212
- Allen AJ, Stabel JR, Robbe-Austerman S, Park KT, Palmer MV, Barrington GM, Lahmers KK, Hamilton MJ, Davis WC (2012) Depletion of CD4 T lymphocytes at the time of infection with M. avium subsp. paratuberculosis does not accelerate disease progression. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 149:286–291
- 97. Wentink GH, Rutten VP, Jaartsveld FH, Zeeuwen AA, van Kooten PJ (1988) Effect of glucocorticoids on cows suspected of subclinical infection with M. paratuberculosis. Vet Q 10:57–62
- Abebe F, Bjune G (2009) The protective role of antibody responses during Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Clin Exp Immunol 157:235–243
- Koets A, Hoek A, Langelaar M, Overdijk M, Santema W, Franken P, Eden W, Rutten V (2006) Mycobacterial 70 kD heat-shock protein is an effective subunit vaccine against bovine paratuberculosis. Vaccine 24:2550–2559
- Santema W, Rutten V, Segers R, Poot J, Hensen S, Heesterbeek H, Koets A (2013) Postexposure subunit vaccination against chronic enteric mycobacterial infection in a natural host. Infect Immun 81:1990–1995

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

) BioMed Central

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit